University of Windsor

Scholarship at UWindsor

Major Papers

Theses, Dissertations, and Major Papers

January 2020

Chinese Immigrant Parental Involvement in Children's Education: **Characteristics and Challenges**

Jing Tao University of Windsor, tao11d@uwindsor.ca

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholar.uwindsor.ca/major-papers



Part of the Elementary Education Commons

Recommended Citation

Tao, Jing, "Chinese Immigrant Parental Involvement in Children's Education: Characteristics and Challenges" (2020). Major Papers. 114.

https://scholar.uwindsor.ca/major-papers/114

This Major Research Paper is brought to you for free and open access by the Theses, Dissertations, and Major Papers at Scholarship at UWindsor. It has been accepted for inclusion in Major Papers by an authorized administrator of Scholarship at UWindsor. For more information, please contact scholarship@uwindsor.ca.

Chinese Immigrant Parental Involvement in Children's Education: Characteristics and Challenges

By

Jing Tao

A Major Research Paper
Submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies
through the Faculty of Education
in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for
the Degree of Master of Education
at the University of Windsor

Windsor, Ontario, Canada

2019

© 2019 Jing Tao

Chinese Immigrant Parental Involvement in Children's Education: Characteristics and Challenges

Jing Tao

APPROVED BY:

T. Sefton Faculty of Education

G. Zhou, Advisor Faculty of Education

December 13, 2019

DECLARATION OF ORIGINALITY

I hereby certify that I am the sole author of this major paper and that no part of this paper has been published or submitted for publication.

I certify that, to the best of my knowledge, my major paper does not infringe upon anyone's copyright nor violate any proprietary rights and that any ideas, techniques, quotations, or any other material from the work of other people included in my major paper, published or otherwise, are fully acknowledged in accordance with the standard referencing practices. Furthermore, to the extent that I have included copyrighted material that surpasses the bounds of fair dealing within the meaning of the Canada Copyright Act, I certify that I have obtained a written permission from the copyright owner(s) to include such material(s) in my major paper and have included copies of such copyright clearances to my appendix.

I declare that this is a true copy of my major paper, including any final revisions, as approved by my major paper committee and the Graduate Studies office, and that this major paper has not been submitted for a higher degree to any other University or Institution.

ABSTRACT

In the educational system, students who receive higher support from parents have a positive trend of performing better in school. This paper will focus on the quality and level of parental involvement in Chinese immigrant families, and the factors and challenges that exist. It will examine how language, culture, and parental educational will impact the amount that parents are involved in their children's education, and how there may be both external and internal factors that affect this. Overall, the study finds that language barriers, communication resources, cultural upbringing and beliefs, and particular school characteristics will have a big impact on parental involvement.

Specifically, factors like a school's respect for minority culture or an education system's availability of resources in other languages will present a welcoming environment or barriers to allow parents to participate in their children's education. To prove these points, this research uses literature reviews from a variety of sources in order to support the observations and will finally discuss strategies that can be taken to increase parental involvement and help improve immigrant children's learning by adding ways parents can be involved.

ACKNOWLEGEMENT

I would first like to heartily thank my faculty sponsor Dr. George Zhou for his continued support, guidance, and insights during the research and writing process of this paper. I also want to thank him for helping me develop my critical thinking and allowing me to better organize the research.

I would also like to thank and acknowledge Dr. Terry Sefton as the second reader of my major paper, and I am gratefully indebted to her for her valuable suggestions and comments.

I especially would like to thank my friend Yuhan Deng, who accompanied me for most of my overseas study and helped me in life and study abroad.

Finally, I would like to express my profound gratitude to my husband, my parents and parents in law for their trust and support, encouragement, and love. You have been my motivation for progress, I also hope to be a source of your pride

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATION OF ORIGINALITY	iii
ABSTRACT	iv
ACKNOWLEGEMENT	v
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Background Information	1
Chapter 2: Literature Review	7
Literature Search Method	7
Parental Involvement and its Impacts	9
Immigrant Parental Involvement	12
Global Context	13
The Characteristics of Chinese Parenting	15
Influence of Chinese Confucianism Culture	15
The Transformation of Chinese Immigrants in Parental Involvement	16
The Challenges between Immigrant Parents and Schools	19
Language Barrier	19
Lack of Communication Resources	22
Different Cultural Value	23
School Characteristics	25
Conflicts between Parents and Children	27
Intergenerational Cultural Dissonance	27
Identity of Immigrant Children	30
Chapter 3: Conclusion and Recommendation	33
Conclusion	33
Recommendations	38
Community and Government Support	38
School and Teacher Support	39
Immigrant Family Support	39

REFERENCES	41
VITA AUCTORIS	50

Chapter 1: Introduction

Background Information

Parents play a vital role in the development and education of children (Guo, 2006). Parents and families, with the support of the school and the community, have the primary responsibility for the development of a child's character, academic performance, and values. Additionally, parental involvement in education can positively influence and improve children's attitudes, behaviours, and mental health to some extent (Hornby, 2011). Thus, it seems that there is a positive impact on the performance of students and their engagement in school when parents participate more. Balli, Demo, and Wedman (1998) pointed out that the types of parental involvement are diverse. For example, parents' participation in parent-teacher conferences, communication with educators, and volunteer work in schools are all integrated educational behaviours. Epstein (2018) encourages the involvement of parents in education and summarizes this relationship as a partnership between school, family, and children. Guo (2006) states that the government should constantly create opportunities for relations and cooperation between home and school, in which schools actively communicate with parents regarding their children, encourage parents to participate in school practices, and promote the flexible integration of family, school, and social education.

In order to engage more parents in children's education and enhance home-school communication, the Ontario government has introduced a "Parent Engagement Policy" for Ontario schools. The Government of Ontario, (n.d.) proposed that schools, and parents especially, should understand their own roles in children's education and development. Hand (2013) propose that parents need to examine the significance of their involvement in children's

education. It is not only the responsibility of the school to set goals and schedules for students, but also to ensure that parents are invited to participate in the educational agenda together.

Additionally, schools should recognize the advantages of and encourage all forms of parental involvement (Government of Ontario, n.d.). As Hand (2013) suggests, parental involvement can reduce the difference in students' grades since parents can provide resources for their children's education as well as feedback on their academic and behavioral performance. In order to encourage this, schools may choose to stimulate the enthusiasm of parents' participation through online (internet, media) and offline (meetings, conferences) activities.

Schools must also take into account the factors that affect parental involvement in education. The Ministry of Education (n.d. p. 6) explains that a parent's participation may be affected by many external factors, such as language barriers, education level, cultural differences, family structure, and socio-economic status. In order for parents to effectively participate in policy and cooperate with educators, schools need to actively seek to build connections with parents and to counter these barriers. To conclude, schools need to work with families in order to help them acquire the skills and knowledge they need to be engaged and involved in their children's learning.

Ontario's Ministry of Education (n.d. p.5) proposes that the purpose of Ontario's Parent Engagement Policy is "to provide the support needed to connect parents at the local level and to help ensure that they have the skills, knowledge, and tools they need to engage in their children's education and in the life of their schools." With this in mind, Ontario's government encourages schools to create a sense of connection and community with parents. Moreover, parental involvement in education not only has the potential to improve children's achievement, but also

has the ability to help government bodies make better educational regulations and provide better resources.

An increasing number of people choose to live in countries where their mother tongue is not the official language, especially when considering the Chinese population and their immigration trends. According to Batalova and Zong (2017), after Mexican immigrants, Chinese immigrants are the second largest foreign-born immigrant group in North America. Data from Statistics Canada (2019) and The Annual Report on Immigration both point out that since 2000, the United States and Canada have become the preferred destination of Asian immigrants. Census statistics show that in 2018, the number of Chinese immigrants in Canada was more than 1,324,700, which ranks as the second largest immigrant population in the country (The Annual Report on Immigration, 2018).

In addition to the social barriers accompanying migration, immigrant education is also worthy of public attention, especially since immigrant parents are typically more involved in their children's education, especially in Chinese culture. This is seen in personal account and seen through the Chinese student population at The University of Windsor. However, the cooperative relationship between parents, schools, and children has encountered a bottleneck in immigrant families. Zhou and Zhong (2011) demonstrated that because families pursue a more international approach to education, many parents (and especially those from China) will choose to emigrate to another country, despite not having any knowledge of that country's language and culture, causing a number of barriers and challenges. In other words, the educational challenges faced by immigrant families may include the collision and blending of traditional educational characteristics and new cultural educational modes.

Cheung and Pomerantz (2011) stress that most Chinese immigrant parents may be accustomed to the traditional Chinese model of education and involvement, which are contrary to Western education in that the Chinese model is more internal and focuses on the Student's individual abilities, whereas the Western model is more focused on the external environment and culture students choose to be in. So, immigrant parents face obvious barriers with schools. For example, Guo (2006) proposed the characteristic of Chinese immigrant parents in parental involvement tends to be rigorous and systematic. Some families try to explore a more democratic and open family atmosphere in education, which can replace the traditional obedience system (Hung, 2017). Therefore, when implementing education with parental involvement, the characteristics and challenges commonly faced by Chinese immigrant families should be considered and accommodated.

Aside from the characteristics of Chinese immigrant parents in parental involvement, Chen, Kim, Orozco-Lapray, Shen, & Wang (2013) indicate that the lack of understanding that immigrant parents have of Western culture, as well as the lack of acculturation, may cause immigrant families to face internal and external challenges. For instance, Costigan, MacDonald, & Miao (2018) stressed the biggest challenges among Chinese immigrant families in Canada include adapting to a new culture in school balancing the changes in the structure of the family, and overcoming the pressures caused by the imbalance of bicultural management (Chen et al., 2013), which is defined as the combination of "the traditional culture of the previous generation and the new culture they have lived in" (Giguere et al., 2010, p. 14).

Overall, Chinese immigrant families encounter a series of challenges with local communities, schools, and families. Therefore, exploring the challenges surrounding the relationship between immigrant students, their families, and schools is foundational to

incorporating parental involvement in schools. This is the reason I have chosen to investigate my research questions.

Research questions

- 1. What are the characteristics of traditional and contemporary parental involvement among Chinese immigrants in education?
- 2. What factors impact and cause challenges for Chinese immigrant parents in the communication with schools and family relations?
- 3. What corresponding strategies can be used to facilitate effective parental involvement in students' learning for Chinese immigrants' families in Canada?

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Literature Search Method

In order to answer the above three research questions, I respectively used four search strategies: a database search, keyword search, selection criteria, and hand search to find and explore more extensive and accurate literature and research data.

Database Search

A database search is the first step in researching the exhibitions that will help researchers locate more available journal articles. First, the study was conducted via the Leddy Library's electronic database offered through the University of Windsor. Literature related to pedagogy, sociology, and psychology were searched using this database.

The following online databases were also used for literature search and retrieval: Google scholar, ProQuest Social Sciences, Education Resources Information Center (ERIC), Gale Cengage Academic OneFile, and Taylor & Francis Journals Complete. These databases provide a wide selection of scientific data and papers, fast categorization, and advanced search to enable researchers to efficiently find journal articles that match their queries.

Keywords

Keywords are core to conducting an effective search. By searching for keywords, researchers can quickly and clearly identify whether the focus of the article matches the content of the study. Eight keywords were used to enhance the diversity and professionalism of the articles searched in the research database: parent involvement, immigration education, immigrant characteristic, and migration challenges.

After the initial search, some more precise keywords about the region, specific population, and target range were added to the search. These include generational barriers, immigrant cultural adaptation, language barrier, immigrant parent-child relationships, and Chinese immigrant value.

Selection Criteria

Apart from the use of database and the positioning of keywords, in order to ensure the accuracy of research and the reliability of data, the literature must be published in English. The reason is that the globalization of English makes the articles more scientific and accessible.

Peer reviewed articles were carefully evaluated for errors and filtered to determine if the authors were credible and the analysis was high quality.

Hand Search

Finally, this study used a manual search strategy to prevent missing data. After determining the context, the data, I scanned the abstract of the article to make sure the content was consistent with the research theme. In order to make the research more authentic and scientific, the manual search included some official websites related to Canadian immigration, such as the Migration Policy Institution, Canada Statistics, and Government of Canada (Immigration, Refugee, and Citizenship). After reviewing and classifying the data, it was then divided into the following topics: the involvement of immigrant parents, the characterization of Chinese immigrants in parental involvement, the conflict of immigrant education, and the parent-child relationship of immigrants.

Parental Involvement and its Impacts

Parental involvement is beneficial to children's learning, performance and growth (Dyson, 2001). As Hornby stressed, "Extensive international research support of the involvement of parents leads to improvements in children's attitudes, behaviour, and attendance at school" (p. 2). Dyson (2001) suggests that successful parental involvement can be defined as the active or sustained involvement of parents in the education of their children. Similarly, Cheung and Pomerantz (2011) claim that parents' voluntary participation in education and the recognition of their own influence are more effective than external invitation (in the school and community).

Any kind of parental involvement can affect children's life and study. In order to support children to have better performance in study, parental involvement is recommended. "Parental involvement is a multidimensional concept, and in that parents can get involved in various ways to promote academic achievement in their children" (Cai & Wang, 2015, p. 58). The way parents play their role in child rearing will affect the family environment, their children's character, and academic performance (Bost, Brown, McBride, & Shin, 2011). Chen and Fan (2001) stress in their study that outstanding performance in school and higher academic achievement are closely related to the form of parental involvement and the family environment. Therefore, parents should be motivated to support and intervene in their children's learning.

Parental involvement in education is part of the socialization process (Cheung & Pomerantz, 2012). Zhou and Zhong (2011) propose that the behaviour of individuals is influenced by society. For example, the growth of children will be influenced by society and environment, which includes the impact of school and family. Coleman (1988) states that both home and school are important for socialization because both can teach social values to children in an organized and purposeful way. Parents, for example, have a role to play in children's language,

emotions, and behaviour. When it comes to educational careers, schools should provide students with more opportunities for social interaction through communication and cooperation with parents. This is why Walker, Dallaire, Sandler, Wilkins, and Hoover-Dempsey (2005) summarize the models of parental involvement in children's education into school-based behaviours and home-based behaviours.

Based on the research of Walker et al. (2005), family-based behaviours are mainly influenced by parents' socio-economic status, education level, and energy. These factors determine whether or not parents have the ability and means to participate in their children's education. On the other hand, school-based behaviours are mainly derived from the perception of individual motivation and the willingness to collaborate within the school and community, such as school invitation or parents' own sense of responsibility.

As mentioned above, parents' beliefs are based on their role exploration, and perceptual ability to participate in their children's education. When compared with educators and teachers, parents may be regarded as lacking in professional competence (Hornby, 2011). However, the unique communication and bond between parents and children are unique within the home, and this avenue for the guidance cannot be replicated by the outside world (Bowen & Lee, 2006).

Hornby (2011) pointed out that parents should acknowledge their own value in terms of children's education. He explains that parents' responsibilities and roles are not only as nurturers but also educators, so it is imperative for them to actively participate in school-based activities. If, on the contrary, parents avoid contact with the school due to fear, children may inherently adopt this same sense of alienation and suffer negative effects surrounding their educational growth. Therefore, considering that parents have expectations for children's education, they

should cultivate self-cognition and values in parental involvement, which can help children maintain their interest and participation in learning (Cheung & Pomerantz, 2012).

In terms of home-based behaviours, Pam (1996) describes the impact of socio-economic status on parental involvement. Specifically, Pam (1996) indicates that due to work environment, working conditions and social resources, parents may be restricted in terms of money and time from being involved in their children's schooling. These barriers may lead to parental neglect of children's education because they put most of their time and energy into work, and they fail to develop cooperative relations with schools and children actively. Kim, Huang, Shen, Wang, and Orozco-Lapray (2014) agree with this view and indicate that, compared to families with sufficient social resources, families with lower economic status are less involved in their children's education.

Walker et al. (2005) suggested that parent education level may determine whether they have the knowledge, learning skills, and confidence to participate in their children's education. Bowen and Lee (2006) explained that this phenomenon is mainly due to parents' self-esteem. For example, parents with a high level of education have a certain level of educational proficiency, financial strength, and social network, which can guarantee their involvement in children's education and communication with the school. By contrast, parents who did not finish high school may be resistant to helping their children finish homework (Hornby, 2011). Additionally, parents with a low education level may not be familiar with the updated education system and resources and may become frustrated. So, parents of this type may seldom meet with teachers because they are afraid of not understanding technical terms or appearing incapable of helping their children's educations (Bowen & Lee, 2006). Bowen and Lee (2006) show that although lower socio-economic status and education level restrict parents from participating in their

children's schooling, they need to create more flexible education strategies according to their own conditions to overcome these problems.

Immigrant Parental Involvement

Janzen and Ochocka (2008) stress that while child-rearing is a complex topic, it is worthier of discussion in the context of immigration. Immigrant families have the added pressures of traditional values, beliefs, language barriers, and school systems, which are all challenging traditional educational strategies for immigrants (Janzen & Ochocka, 2008). Kao and Turney (2009) suggest that although Hispanic and black immigrants also have such educational barriers, Asian immigrants face more severe challenges due to the discrepancy between language systems and social structure. Although the issue of immigrant education is complicated and minority immigrant parents are unlikely to actively establish contact with their children's schools, Bowen and Lee (2006) still encourage parents of any type to participate in education. Bowen explained that parents with different backgrounds can provide a more diverse cultural background and way of viewing things, and hence it may display different types of involvement which can help improve the overall performance of students in the classroom and multi-cultural setting.

According to the research of Zhou and Zhong (2011), immigrant parents who are involved in their children's education show a high level of interest but lack in action. Therefore, the involvement of immigrant parents is often regarded as negative by society (Pam, 1996). This inactive educational involvement is caused by immigrant parents' lack of adequate understanding of local education system and teaching structure, which causes immigrant parents to lose the initiative to grasp teaching strategies and interaction with the material.

Fuligni (2012) indicated that cultural misunderstanding is a core gap. Costigan et al. (2018) stress two common challenges among Chinese immigrant families in Canada include adapting to a new culture and stimulating parenting motivation. When parents experience stress from the community, they may not have enough cultural foundation to engage in parenting behaviour, which is needed to help build positive relationships with their children (Costigan et al., 2018).

In addition to the barriers between parents and schools, parent-child relationships within immigrant families also encounter conflicts. Rumbaut (2005) indicates that complex conflicts surrounding acculturation are often present in family relations, and may be affected by mental health. According to Do, Frese, Wang, and Zheng (2018), mental health problems can subtly affect migrant families in that both immigrant parents and children may hide their emotions and anxiety during cultural adaptation. Kim et al. (2014) explains that this psychological issue is caused by the pressure, psychological disturbance, and imbalance of bicultural management. To summarize, acculturation of immigrants and parent-child conflicts are often accompanied by psychological stress and mental health problems.

Global Context

Immigration has made Canada a culturally diverse country, contributing to the country's growth, economic prosperity, and cultural diversity (Li, 2006). With the development of diversity in the world, the public is aware of the role migration plays in connecting different countries. Such cooperation covers many factors, such as language, culture, religion, economy, society, and business (Batalova & Zong, 2017). In addition to promoting economic development, immigration enriches Canada's social and cultural life (Government Canada, 2019). Therefore, an increasing number of countries are willing to develop immigration policies and services to attract immigrants and meet their needs.

According to a global survey, Chinese immigrants are already one of the largest groups of immigrants in the world, and these Asian immigrants usually choose to live in developed countries such as Canada, United States, and Australia (Ho, 2014). However, while immigration can connect families with more advanced educational resources, a higher return on investment, better social security, and welfare, challenges and conflicts also exist (Costigan & Dokis, 2006). For example, after arriving in their new residences, immigrants tend to suffer from culture shock while trying to maintain their original, national culture.

Costigan and Dokis (2006) explain that immigration has become especially important for the recognition and self-adjustment of the boundary between culture and values. Kao and Turney (2009) found in their study that, except for Chinese immigrants, such inadaptability and barriers appeared in almost every ethnic minority immigrant group. More specifically, immigrant groups face more challenges than locals. For Chinese immigrant groups, cultural barriers are due to the collision between traditional Chinese Confucianism and Western culture (Guo, 2014). Although many Chinese families choose to live within the new host culture, a dominant percentage of the traditional culture still needs to adjust to Western customs.

So, with the large number of Chinese groups immigrating to Canada, the exploration of Chinese traditional culture is of great educational significance for immigrant education and parental involvement in Canada. More importantly, research and accommodations should be made regarding how Chinese traditional culture is reflected in the family structure and whether parental participation evolves under the change of environment.

The Characteristics of Chinese Parenting

Costigan and Koryzma (2011) proposes that when the cultural gap between societies is very large and the education system is different, the child-rearing problem of immigrants is worthy of in-depth discussion. Costigan and Koryzma (2011) explains that the Chinese education system is dominated by Chinese traditional values. More specifically, China is more introverted, while other cultural groups are extroverted. For example, Chinese education pays more attention to using the textbook to teach students how to "learn". Therefore, Chinese learning is more inclined to standardized instruction and textbook guiding, which is a more exam-oriented education. In contrast, Canadian education focuses more on stimulating children's knowledge of "external knowledge". Therefore, the basis of this paper seeks to discuss why Chinese immigrant families are different from other cultural groups, and to discuss their unique characteristics and educational concepts.

Influence of Chinese Confucianism Culture

Guo (2006) indicates that Confucianism, in guiding Chinese immigrant parents, has inevitable influences of new cultural contexts and "the implication is that children of Chinese immigrant families are raised differently from those of other cultural groups" (p. 12). He emphasizes in his research that Confucianism is based on family and collectivism. Confucianism, for example, has taught Chinese people how to learn from each other and to do work together in groups. More importantly, it taught Chinese people the importance of obeying parents and family. Therefore, as Guo concludes, the power of Confucianism in guiding Chinese immigrant parents and the new cultural backgrounds have inevitable influence, which means that the children of Chinese immigrant families are different from those of other cultural groups.

Costigan and Koryzma (2011) also indicate that there is a certain cultural distance between Chinese culture and Western culture, which is based on the influence of Confucianism. Costigan and Koryzma (2011) explain that absolute discipline, authority, morality, and harmonious family relationships are subtle influences of Confucianism on Chinese parents. Therefore, the research in this paper focuses on the fact that Chinese immigrant parents and Canadian parents have different attitudes, practices, and mindsets towards children's participation and parents' integration in essence.

Ho (2014) elaborates that the process of acculturation is regarded as the process of changing parents' beliefs on education when Chinese immigrant parents are raising their children. In other words, although the parents of Chinese immigrants have different education and involvement patterns from Caucasians, the process of Chinese immigrants' gradual immersion in the new environment is worthy of observation and study. Guo (2014) added that no matter which country Chinese immigrants choose to live in, Chinese parents will try their best to participate in children's education with the traditional Confucianism education mode and first language that they are familiar with. For example, in areas with a high population of Chinese people, it has become the primary choice of Chinese schools for immigrant parents to help their children maintain a Chinese-speaking environment and teach them the core beliefs of Confucianism.

Therefore, the characteristics of Chinese immigrant parents are that they will cultivate children's Chinese interest and learning mode with their own cultural characteristics (Nam & Park, 2014).

The Transformation of Chinese Immigrants in Parental Involvement

It is worth noting that with the development of pluralism in modern society, some families hope to filter traditional education concepts into a more flexible way of involvement (Hung, 2017). That is to say, some families try to explore a more democratic and open family

atmosphere in education, which can replace traditional obedience. Therefore, in terms of parental involvement in education, the characteristics and changes of Chinese immigrant families should be discussed and studied.

Cheung, Elphick, Kohnstamm, Slotboom, & Zhang (2002) argue that although Chinese immigrant parents maintain obvious characteristics of Chinese culture, their educational strategies are more flexible when they are exposed to a new environment. In other words, the new generation of immigrant parents can observe, learn, and develop more flexibly while participating in their children's education. Compared with older immigrants, the parents of new immigrants tend to administer an appropriate attitude towards education according to their own family situation. In addition, new immigrant parents may challenge closed education, which may ignore the important role of practical activities - and be in favour of open education, which emphasizes the training of children in practice. Therefore, different immigrants may approach education in a way that reflects their family structure (Guo, 2006).

Giguere, Lalonde, and Lou (2010) found that parents of new immigrants are smoother in cultural and identity transformation. Most new immigrant parents, for example, fit in with Asians at home and Canadians in the mainstream. Giguere et al (2010) explains that this ability to integrate could not only help avoid unnecessary cultural barriers, but also help immigrants retain their traditional life customs and culture in other countries. In other words, new immigrants do not need to abandon their own culture in order to integrate into the English-speaking society, which is not conducive to the development of Canada's diverse culture.

Ho (2014) stresses that Chinese immigrants may find unique socialized thoughts in the exploration of acculturation, which one can adapt to the new migration culture expectations and

strategies without abandoning the original traditional national culture. For instance, Chinese immigrants' families may mix the Confucianism culture and Western values. Ho (2014) 's research was based on the discussion of acculturation in the parental involvement of Chinese immigrant before 2012, of which 22 studies were selected. In discussions, which focus on acculturation and its influence on parenting beliefs, some Chinese parents are aware of cultural differences and intend to try or negotiate ethnic values and customs to fit in with their adopted culture. However, many of the studies reviewed in Ho's research may be limited by design and methods, which may impart social desirability bias and the use of a single method.

De Lardemelle, Onaga, and Suarez-Orozco (2010) claim that the identities of migrant children also become more flexible. That is, the adaptive ability of immigrant children enables them to take on traditional Asian family roles and responsibilities at home while adapting to the mainstream culture.

Although Chen and Zhou (2018) emphasize that, compared with Chinese immigrant parents, Western parents have a higher level of positive emotions, and immigrant families in Canada experience constant adjustment, conflict, development, and instability (Buki, Ma, Strom, & Strom, S., 2003). Chen and Zhou (2018) state that it is likely that "parents conforming to these American norms of parental emotion in order to report more frequent expressions of positive emotions in the family context" (p. 391). Therefore, immigrant parents encounter conflicts and challenges in the pursuit of new parenting relationships, as well as in the cooperative relationship between schools.

As a result, Asian immigrant parents often support their children's education through a unique ethnic lens, which takes the place of communication and interaction with schools.

Although the cooperative relationship between the immigrant family and the school and the family in their new home may suffer adversity, the Chinese immigrant parents are willing to devote themselves to children's learning. In addition, some immigrant families will integrate into children's education based on the transformation of national culture and local educational mode in parental involvement.

The Challenges between Immigrant Parents and Schools

Immigrant parents face obvious barriers with schools. Dyson (2001) indicates that it is crucial for parents to participate in the education of children whose mother tongue is not English. Because English is not the mother tongue for immigrant children and they need to adapt to a new language and changes in environment, immigrant parents need to participate and offer support in order to ensure a successful integration into the education system (Dyson, 2001). Guo (2014) emphasizes that for Chinese immigrants "parenting is complex partially because the immigration experience widens horizons beyond parents' cultural traditions and introduces them and their children to a range of possible other choices" (p. 307).

Therefore, with today's globalization and the increasing Chinese immigrant population, there are more educational differences, barriers, and challenges for immigrant families that need to be explored.

Language Barrier

Bhattacharya (2000) points out that "the language barrier of immigrants is one of the main reasons that hinder parents' communication and integration with the community and schools" (p. 80). Parents of immigrant children cannot successfully integrate into Canadian society or their children's education because they feel threatened by the language barrier. Nam and Park (2014)

emphasized that in the new host culture, the biggest issue caused by the language barrier is the sense of distance between immigrant families and local education systems and institutions. For example, if the parents of immigrant students are unfamiliar with the local language and culture, communication barriers and mistakes will occur when the school participates.

Similarly, Constantino, Cui, and Faltis (1995) demonstrate that the language barrier makes parents lose the initiative in school participation and communication. Constantino et al. explain that, in their study, not only immigrant parents but also teachers directly indicated that the language barrier was the biggest challenge to communication and understanding. Furthermore, this kind of language barrier is likely to cause challenges between parents, schools, and children. Therefore, language barriers are one of the important factors affecting immigrant parental involvement.

Some immigrant parents play a passive role in communication with the school (Guo, 2014). In Guo's research, interviewees indicated that due to different languages, immigrant parents believed that teachers could not really understand their needs and expectations. In this case, the parents can only blindly hope in Western education. In other words, some immigrant parents are dependent on the unfamiliar mainstream culture because they cannot clearly express their educational attitudes and expectations.

This is consistent with the findings of Bhattacharya (2000), who surveyed 75 immigrant parents about their educational involvement. In communication with schools, less than 30 percent regularly attend parent-teacher meetings. In the details, data in this research was collected from 75 parents and 75 children in separate interviews. Moreover, "most immigrant parents considered mastery of English a prerequisite for assimilation into the mainstream

culture" (p.81). So, the parents' independence with English often increased their dependence on the school for their children's academic development. Although the study revealed that parental involvement among immigrant families is threatened by language barriers, the study should be repeated with a larger sample size for more accurate results. Moreover, this study is limited to the participation of Asian immigrant families only. Further comparisons between this data and data on the participation of contemporary native-born parents in their children's education are needed.

At the same time, immigrant parents say the difficulty in English communication has increased the sense of dependence of parents on schools. When Sohn and Wang (2006) investigated the views of Korean immigrant parents on participating schools, some immigrant parents indicated that "limited English proficiency is the most significant barrier for Korean mothers to build effective partnerships with teachers" (p. 131). More specifically, some Asian immigrants say that despite getting some English proficiency, they are still troubled by the slang and educational terms used in communication. Therefore, as Zhou and Zhong (2011) summarize, although migrant parents want to follow up on their children's learning process in school, they are too shy to participate in school activities or communicate with teachers because they lack English skills.

Costigan et al. (2018) express that language barriers may bring about higher acculturation pressure, while most Asian ethnic groups are loyal to their mother tongue (Rumbaut, 1994). Slaughter-Defoe and Zhang (2009) explain that Chinese immigrant parents attach great importance to heritage, culture, and language because immigrant parents believe that their mother tongue is a family cohesion and is representative of identity. Therefore, most Chinese immigrant parents are insistent to engrain their mother tongue in their children's education.

Kao and Turney (2009) point out that while Chinese people's sense of national identity may be stronger than their English language ability and adaptability, families with English proficiency are likely to benefit from Western education systems. After all, faster acculturation helps immigrant parents integrate into local communities and schools. Therefore, Janzen and Ochocka (2008) suggest that immigrant parents should communicate more often with local people in the new host country. While expanding their social circle, immigrant parents' can also come to better understand Western education and participation models, which can help them to participate in schools more flexibly.

Lack of Communication Resources

With the language barrier comes a shortage of communication resources. In general, the normal method for parental involvement in schools is to supervise homework and to participate in school seminars and parent-teachers conferences (Hornby, 2011). However, due to communication barriers, these traditional methods of participation are implausible. For example, Kao and Turney (2009) found that immigrant parents felt isolated because school meetings were conducted only in English. In Dyson's 2001 study, participants indicated that due to the language barrier, parents had to hire interpreters to help parents interact and communicate with the school. However, immigrant parents say it has long been a waste of energy, time, and money. Similarly, Sohn and Wang (2006) found that the parents of Korean immigrants were frustrated that the school did not provide interpretation services and believed that the school did not appreciate their involvement. Sohn and Wang (2006) concluded that schools and immigrant parents should explore more diverse ways of communication and involvement.

For example, Sohn and Wang (2006) suggest that in order to more actively grasp the initiative of children's education, immigrant families can use the internet translation tools more

frequently in the parental involvement. On this basis, Nam and Park (2014) suggest that "before a school offers programs or services for immigrant parents, the schools need to examine carefully what types of services or programs would be acceptable to the parents depending on their ethnic backgrounds, language used at home, and educational levels, as well as the child's school levels" (p. 325).

Zhou and Zhong (2011) suggested that translation services offered by schools could also foster the active participation of immigrant parents. Furthermore, in order to realize the potential of diversity, Gonzalez and Karoly (2011) encourage schools to employ staff from all over the world who could act as intermediary members between parents and the school. In this way, schools and immigrant parents can avoid the embarrassment and challenges caused by language barriers. Language barriers will reduce the happiness of immigrant parents (Costigan & Koryzma, 2011). If schools provide immigrant parents with more communication modes and options, it may offset the challenges of language barriers.

Different Cultural Value

Cultural roles, expectations, and values of different parents each play a key role in parental involvement (Hornby, 2011). Every country and education system should understand the cultural background and values of ethnic minorities in order to effectively reduce the cultural friction of immigrant parents' involvement. Constantino et al. (1995) suggest that, in addition to language barriers, cultural and value differences between the country of birth and the new host country can be challenges that affect parent-school partnerships.

Since Canada is a cosmopolitan country of immigrants, full of new immigrants of different races, parenting values are indeed dynamic (Janzen & Ochocka, 2008). As Janzen and Ochocka

state, "the new host country context is an intervention, or filter, potentially impacting the parenting orientations and parenting styles of newcomers" (p. 95). So, culture is fluid.

Cheung and Pomerantz (2011) state that white parents may be more lenient in terms of parental involvement in education, while Chinese parents may have absolute control and right to participate. Secondly, Zhou and Zhong (2011) found that parents of Chinese immigrants want to follow up on the dynamics and learning process of the school in real time. The difference is that if the student is doing well in school, in the new culture, the teacher thinks interviews are unnecessary.

Zhou and Zhong (2011) point out that some immigrant parents are not familiar with the new culture and are afraid that their behaviour or language expression would offend the teachers, so most of them choose to listen and keep silent. Compared with the values of Chinese immigrant parents, Dyson (2001) points out that non-immigrant parents tend to pay attention to extracurricular activities, such as sports events and volunteer activities. In contrast, Chinese immigrant parents seem more concerned with improving their children's academic performance by combatting the language barrier and the challenges to their values.

A study conducted by Zhou and Zhong (2011) found that if the school did not actively invite or make an appointment, Chinese immigrant parents would not participate in school activities. Similarly, Costigan et al. (2018) investigated the cultural adaptability of 182 Canadian immigrant families of teenagers and children. They found "the spillover of stress from both outside and within families on Chinese immigrants' parenting behaviours" (p. 196). As a result, education for immigrant families has become more challenging.

Although most minority parents have different cultural values (Guo, 2014), all parents have the same educational expectations of schools (Bhattacharya, 2000). Accordingly, Guo (2014) emphasized that Chinese parents' focus on their children's learning attitude, learning enthusiasm, and performance should not be ignored. De Lardemelle et al. (2010) elaborates that immigrant parents may need to adjust their own values and educational expectations in order to better educate the next generation. Some immigrant parents do not trust educators who place all focus on Western culture and values (Sohn & Wang, 2006). However, Bowen, and Lee (2006) demonstrate that immigrant parents should try to integrate into the local cultural backgrounds and parenting concepts, which can help them learn more flexible parenting skills.

School Characteristics

Generally speaking, schools and communities attach great importance to the learning progress and mental health of immigrant children, but immigrant parents are often faced with challenges that are ignored by schools (Nam & Park, 2014). Fenta, Hamilton, Marshall, Rummens, and Simich (2011) argue that parental perception of school environment may be of particular importance to immigrants because schools are such an important aspect of family adaptation. Fenta et al. (2011) explain that when immigrant parents can feel the school's respect for minority culture, they will be more confident and actively participate in school activities and improve cooperative relations. It is clear that the role of the new host school is a key point in shaping the parenting direction and style of immigrants (Janzen & Ochocka, 2008). Epstein (2018) emphasize that cultural diversity within a community and students' backgrounds and learning experiences should be valued by every community and school. Epstein (2018) explains that a school's understanding and inclusion of diverse cultures can promote the enrollment rate and success rate of immigrant children. Moreover, Epstein concludes that

"family backgrounds, the dreams parents have for their children, and communication with parents using different technologies and approaches are all factors that future schools and teachers should consider" (p. 403). Schools and teachers should decide whether accommodations are needed according to the situation of different immigrant families, such as interpreters or ways to promote the contact between immigrant families and local culture.

Gonzalez and Karoly (2011) report that most schools do not seem to be culturally sensitive to immigrant children and immigrant parents. For example, when immigrant parents are confused about school activities and culture, the school does not seek other communication methods to solve this obstacle. Therefore, immigrant parents may feel unwelcome because of the inaction of the school. Dyson (2001) found that more than half of immigrant parents claim their children's school did not realize the importance of multiculturalism, so the school did not invest in cultural diversity courses. For example, in Dyson's (2001) study, a participant said that "immigrant children never talked at home about any multicultural curriculum and activities at school" (p. 468). Therefore, immigrant parents believe that schools do not pay attention to immigrant groups. Some participants indicated that the communication and activities of the school were in favour of European and American cultures, and there was little cultural communication about Asia (Dyson, 2001). Bhattacharya (2000) states that from the perspective of migrant children, teachers do not balance the needs and progress of every student in the class. For example, some immigrant students may experience a learning adaptation period of foreign culture because of the destruction of learning plans and habits, which needs the patient explanation and help from teachers. It is clear that some teachers lack cultural diversity training (Bhattacharya, 2000).

Similarly, although some immigrant parents actively participate in school activities and establish cooperative relationships with teachers, teachers still cannot understand or appreciate cultural values, which increase the invisible pressure on immigrant parents (Sohn & Wang, 2006). For example, teachers can allocate more time for conversation or private conversation according to the background and needs of immigrant parents. It can be seen that schools lacks understanding and strategies in the spread and emphasis of diverse culture. Zhou and Zhong (2011) suggest that teachers should understand the essence of different cultural values in the process of educating children so that they can communicate with immigrant parents more effectively and actively.

Conflicts between Parents and Children

In addition to the barriers between parents and schools, the parent-child interaction within immigrant families also encounters conflicts. Rumbaut (2005) indicates that complex conflicts in acculturation activities are often presented in family relations.

Intergenerational Cultural Dissonance

Bowen and Lee (2006) point out that parental participation in education is not only required to establish communication between parents and schools, but also to help parents cultivate good parent-child relationships and build family cohesion. However, the intergenerational cultural differences directly affect parental involvement in education. The first conflict of immigrant family education is acculturation to the new environment (Ho, 2014), and the other is the cultural barrier between generations (Hua, Costigan, & Su, 2009). For example, Hua et al. (2009) found that while the descendants of immigrants are more likely to contact and integrate into the community and environment dominated by the new culture, which is dominated by the ideas of

freedom, democracy, and equality, immigrant parents still adhere to the traditional cultural education.

Therefore, while the parents of immigrants fail to adapt to the new host culture, their children may successfully integrate into the new country. Such intergenerational cultural differences can strain the parent-child relationship and deprive the descendants of immigrants of the opportunity to learn about their heritage. Telzer (2010) found in his study that immigrant children were more adapted to local culture than their parents. Therefore, as Hua et al. (2009) conclude, the social influence of host culture has an indelible influence on the cultural values, language choice, identity, and behaviours of immigrants' descendants.

Ho (2014) points out that the intergenerational cultural differences of immigrant families can lead to conflicts in family relationship and affect the immigrant parents' enthusiasm to participate in their children's schooling because they could not understand and adapt to the cultural gap. In other words, when "viewed in the context of parent-child relationships, acculturation discrepancies between parents and children generate conflict within the family" (Ho, 2014, p. 156).

Chen et al. (2013) stress that when immigrant parents do not have cultural sensitivity and flexibility, they cannot understand the challenges faced by immigrant offspring in the mainstream culture. In other words, the concept of education of Chinese immigrant parents' is generally family-oriented, and assumes that consultation with parents can lead to better results. The descendants of immigrants, however, may be more tolerant of democratic ideas. Therefore, when an immigrant family encounters the collision of two mainstream values, thoughts, and

acculturation, there will be conflicts in parent-child relationships and parental involvement in education.

Fung and Lau (2010) propose that Chinese immigrant parents' implementation of traditional Confucianism and collectivism constitute as one of the biggest differences in parenting and involvement in the education of their offspring. The research results of Lee, Tsai, and Ying (2007) indicate that as the cultural adaptation period of immigrants' offspring in the new host becomes longer, children's thoughts, values, and personalized development tend to become more similar to other teenagers who live in Western culture. Fung and Lau (2010) explain that when immigrant children adapt to dominant Chinese culture, internalization symptoms are minimal. This indicates that immigrant children who are still guided by Chinese traditional culture, do not transform the external cultural tendency into the internal subject consciousness. When asked about the perception of the acculturation gap among children of immigrants, 90 percent said "they would not confide in their conservative parents and were more likely to share their experiences with peers or others" (p. 324).

It is worth mentioning that Costigan et al. (2018) refute that parent-child conflict and intergenerational cultural differences in immigrant families can also increase parental ability and participation to some extent. Costigan et al. (2018) demonstrate that from the child's point of view, more intense conflicts may actually reflect well on the parent when stating "even if the parents are stressed about these conflicts, children are seeing parents' willingness to engage in conflict discussions as a positive thing" (p. 196).

Although Chen et al. (2013) claim that intergenerational cultural differences in immigrant families are regarded as a risk factor for children's poor performance in school and poor mental

health, Costigan et al. (2018) emphasize that some immigrant children consider such conflicts and differences as one of the preconditions for family relationship coordination. Costigan et al. (2018) explain that when the immigrant family is dominated by the closed family environment of absolute obedience and compromise, immigrant children may be unwilling to reveal their true feelings to their parents. However, when there are conflicts and cultural barriers within immigrant families, it means parents are willing to listen and communicate with children. Therefore, some descendants of immigrants believe that intergenerational cultural differences are positive manifestations of family relations.

Overall, the intergenerational cultural differences in immigrant families make the parent-child relationship difficult, in that parents do not actively ask and children do not actively report and communicate. The two generations choose different cultures and values. To conclude, intergenerational cultural differences can lead to negative emotions in family relationships, but studies have proved that appropriate conflicts and differences can promote the closeness of immigrant parent-child relationship (Fung and Lau, 2010).

Identity of Immigrant Children

One characteristic of the descendants of immigrants is bicultural identity, as defined on page 6. Giguere et al. (2010) state that there are two ways for immigrants' descendants to acquire culture. The first comes from life factors such as language habits of the previous generation in the family. For example, most Chinese immigrant families maintain traditional Chinese festivals and customs. The second is from the mainstream culture that children have learned while socializing with peers, and interacting within the community and school (Yau, 2016). Therefore, Giguere et al. (2010) summarize that the children represent a middle ground between their new host culture and their traditional Chinese culture. The descendants of immigrants do not directly

acquire the influence of their heritage and apart from family influence, the spread of minority culture is limited.

Choi and Harachi (2007) indicate that parent-child conflicts within these families weaken the closeness between family members and affect the way immigrant parents participate in the education and cultivation of their children. In other words, when children's emotional connection with their parents is negatively affected, their academic performance will be reduced to some extent. On this basis, Choi and Harachi (2007) propose that if immigrant parents blindly restrict the integration of mainstream culture, it will not only aggravate family tension but also increase a resistance to heritage culture among immigrant children. Lee et al. (2007) suggest that local friends of immigrant teenagers will gradually replace their parents' role as confidants because the identity of immigrants' descendants is more consistent with that of local people.

Chan and Tam (2016) investigated the internalization of values by immigrant families in Hong Kong and found that "Parents want to transmit to their children not only their own values but also values that are normative in relevant societies" (p. 47). Therefore, immigrant parents should not take their children's unique self-identity as the center of family conflicts, but should adjust their expectations and help their offspring adapt to the combination of cultural heritage and the new society. Each family has a special bond that binds them together to form family cohesion, among which there is the sense of identity among family members (Chan & Tam, 2016; Chao & Tseng, 2002). Compared with immigrant youth, traditional Chinese students are more introverted and unwilling to express their feelings; however, the identities of the descendants of immigrants' changes (Josefowitz & Wolfgang, 1978).

Costigan et al. (2018) understand this phenomenon as a symptom of acculturation pressure among children. They argue that the implicit acculturation pressure experienced by immigrant children not only delays learning, but also challenges parents to engage in parent-child relationships and learning. The identity of immigrant children is related to social media. Dreby and Foner (2011) indicate that the frequent use of English social media and high social skills can indirectly affect children's acculturation ability. Chen et al. (2013) point out "children's higher English proficiency, greater English media use, and greater association with Caucasian American friends were directly related to their higher social competence" (p. 198).

Similarly, Liu (2015) found that the descendants of immigrants were more adaptable, leading to their ability to socialize with classmates from different backgrounds and languages, and to understand the values and learning attitudes of other countries. On this basis, immigrant children also explore their own identity in the conflict between cultures. Costigan and Dokis (2006) suggest that the offspring of immigrants can adapt their behaviour according to different environments, making them more flexible than their parents.

Costigan and Dokis (2006) suggest that if immigrant parents want to participate in the education of immigrant children more smoothly, they should immerse their children in Chinese media and culture. Costigan et al. (2018) illustrate that immigrant children may experience isolation and exclusion, which leads to higher expectations of integration into the local society.

Chapter 3: Conclusion and Recommendation

Conclusion

The partnership model, which is based on equal and open communication and interaction between schools, parents, and children, is regarded as an effective model for parental involvement. However, previous literatures and studies have suggested that such cooperative relationship will become more complex in the context of immigration because the role of parents has long been seen as lacking insight and sensitivity to parenting. So, as Hornby (2011) states, immigrants' parents are used to obeying the school's educational responsibilities and participating passively. Although the involvement of immigrant parents is a challenge for all three parties, research shows that from the perspective of children, all parental education and participation is valuable, because children think parents are good leaders.

Walker et al. (2005) summarize the model of parental involvement, and state that parents' education level and socioeconomic status are two factors that affect parental involvement. Many immigrant parents lack the vocabulary necessary to communicate with the school, and cannot help their children complete homework. Additionally, parents may be too pressured by their own work responsibilities to invest much time or energy in their children's education.

Along with the factors affecting Chinese immigrants' involvement in their children's education, Chinese immigrants may experience conflicts when maintaining their cultural traditions in a new host cultural society. In other words, Chinese immigrant parents hope to integrate into the new host culture without abandoning their traditional Chinese culture. Thus, Janzen and Ochocka (2008) argue that some Chinese immigrant parents may change their parenting style while adapting themselves to the development of the new society. Moreover, this

updated educational attitude should be integrated into the mainstream culture, accompanied by the guidance of schools.

Parental involvement in education has unique barriers among families from different cultural backgrounds. The language habits and slang, cultural values, and parenting styles of local people exist as barriers for immigrant parents as they attempt to cooperate with their children's education. For example, due to different languages, even Chinese immigrants with a certain foundation in the local language can hardly understand the slang and professional vocabulary of local communities. This may cause Chinese immigrants' parents to rely on schools and to lose the initiative to participate in education.

In terms of the challenges and barriers of immigrant parental involvement, language barriers and colliding cultural values are the two biggest barriers for parents attempting to participate in schools; however, immigrants' offspring have more resilient acculturation ability. Chen et al. (2013) argue that this means that the children of immigrants will have a higher level of English education than their parents; however, this may in turn lead to Chinese immigrants families encountering the internal conflicts. In addition, the social skills, learning abilities, and individual abilities of Chinese immigrants are not under the control of traditional Chinese culture.

Overall, Chinese immigrant parents should pay attention to the balance of the three parties when participating in education. Building family cohesion and spreading traditional culture are suggested to assist in establishing a good cooperative relationship with the school and a stable development within the family. In the context of globalization and the challenges faced by immigrant families and schools, the conflicts within immigrant families and their influencing factors and resolution strategies are worthy of study and discussion.

The Characteristics of Chinese Immigrants in Parenting

The characteristics and main ideas of Chinese immigrant families in parental participation are centered on Confucianism. Costigan and Koryzma (2011) concludes that this characteristic can be found in the traditional Chinese family's dependence on school education and emphasis on family collectivism. For example, Chinese family education tends to be introverted, while Western education is more democratic and open. Therefore, if Chinese immigrant parents still insist on the educational participation method of exam-oriented education and examination, it may increase psychological stress and pressure on their children.

Most Chinese immigrant parents respect Confucianism. The main concepts of Confucianism include collectivism, obedience, and respect for educators and families. Therefore, there is a certain essential gap between the parenting attitudes in Chinese parenting and Western parenting, since Western countries tend to cultivate children's personal development. Therefore, the intervention of Confucianism is also a main reason as to why Chinese immigrant families and Western parents have different attitudes, thoughts, and behaviours surrounding their involvement in their children's education.

The Challenges of Parental Involvement among Chinese Immigrants

The main challenges for Chinese immigrant families in Canadian education arise from the inability to cooperate with schools and conflicts within the family.

Challenge with Schools

The language barrier is one of the biggest challenges for immigrant parents when communicating with the school because the language is not familiar and causes new immigrants to avoid talking with teachers out of fear of embarrassment. Although most parents understand that participation in their children's education is beneficial to parent-child relationships, the language barrier is limiting in terms of enthusiasm and self-efficacy. Zhou and Zhong (2011) state that language barriers directly affect the participation of Chinese immigrants.

Another problem caused by the language barriers is the restriction of the medium of communication between schools and immigrant parents. The traditional parental involvement model can no longer meet the specific needs of immigrant families (Kao & Turney, 2009). For example, typical methods for parental participation are parent-teacher meetings, volunteer activities, or appointments with teachers. However, research indicates that immigrant parents feel communication barriers render face-to-face meetings inefficient, which suggests that schools should consider hiring interpreters or use media and other communication modes with translation software to invite immigrant parents to participate.

Third, differences in cultural values and school priorities affect the participation of immigrant parents in school. Some schools fail to acknowledge the academic expectations of Chinese immigrant parents for their children. For example, immigrant parents may not be satisfied with their children's performance reflected in schools because schools may focus on children's creativity and personalized development, which may appear to ignore the academic progress that Chinese parents attach importance to. Hence, some immigrant parents are frustrated and worried that schools do not understand their unique values and expectations (Dyson, 2001).

More importantly, many schools do not seem to have the benefit or cultural sensitivity of cultural diversity because Western education focuses on the European and North American canons. As mentioned above, Chinese immigrant parents maintain traditional culture and heritage language. For this reason, schools should understand the importance of cultural diversity and prioritize widening their curricula to be more inclusive.

Parent-Child Relations Conflicts

The division between parents' and children's acculturation levels may expose migrant children to adverse developmental consequences. Immigrant children are faster to learn the language, values, behaviours, and thinking patterns of the new cultural background and successfully integrate into the mainstream culture, while many of their parents are still advocating traditional education. This contradiction also impedes immigrant parents' involvement in the education of their offspring. Therefore, Hua et al. (2009) stresses that the acculturation pressures of immigrant parents and the imbalance of parent-child acculturation reflects the emergence of internalized contradictions in immigrant children's identities and driving the conflict between home and Western education.

Strategies for Chinese Immigrants in Parental Involvement

In order to help overcome the challenges involving immigrant parents in their children's education, the joint efforts of the community, schools, families, and students are indispensable. First of all, the government should implement some policies and changes to benefit immigrant

families, such as a government hotline, so that immigrants can get help quickly when seeking services. In this way, under the leadership of the government, communities and schools can cooperate in building a multicultural social environment.

Secondly, when the school invites parents to participate in the school, they must consider the psychological conditions, language habits, and values of the parents, and make appropriate adjustments according to different immigrant families. As for family, although schools can promote minority culture, parents are still the first resource for immigrant children to understand their heritage culture. Therefore, immigrant parents can consider educational participation and innovation according to local culture, so as to seek a neutral education method suitable for both cultures.

Recommendations

Community and Government Support

The community and government can provide services to help immigrant families. Other than special hotline services for immigrants, the government can create more diverse immigration services, such as a website. Internal contradictions within the families may require mental health services. Immigrant parents can access the professional website to obtain resources and information. In addition, the Canadian government could provide programs that support additional jobs for immigrants (such as immigrants helping others come into the country), which would enable immigrant families to gain more economic resources and expand the social circle and help improve their cultural adaptability. Ideally, the government and the community should help provide immigrants with an understanding of the culture, educational assistance, and active communication (Janzen and Ochocka, 2008).

School and Teacher Support

Cultural sensitivity and identification of differences are crucial for schools. On that basis, schools should evaluate immigrant families. Parents' academic expectations, cultural values, language familiarity, and children's cultural fitness should be assessed. In this way, teachers can plan different educational and parental cooperation models according to the differences of families. For example, for immigrant families whose acculturation is below average, schools may consider offering after-school tutoring or language intensive classes, which can help children improve academically and maintain self-esteem. Epstein (2018) states that schools should train teachers' response degree and emergency response ability to different situations, such as family background and family needs.

Zhou and Zhong (2011) introduce the need for more communication methods between schools and parents. In addition to traditional communication methods, schools can hire translators or staff that are familiar with minority cultures to help immigrant families participate. This way, parents can be involved in education through email, internet, and other easily translated methods.

Immigrant Family Support

Parent-oriented learning can play a unique role in education because children internalize their parents' values and goals. Such internalization of values can help immigrant families survive the new cultural intervention period more smoothly and cultivate the internal motivation of immigrant children. Sometimes, immigrant parents feel betrayed by the acculturation of immigrant children. More specifically, since children are more adaptable than adults, immigrant children are more likely to adapt to local ideas and behaviours, which may resemble abandoning traditional cultural learning. Therefore, in order to preserve and develop the world's diverse

cultures, Chinese immigrant parents should provide adequate Chinese resources, such as books, music, movies, and other media, so that immigrant children can still retain a certain foundation of their mother tongue. In time, immigrant parents will need to adapt to changing roles.

Family discussions that involve all caregivers could reduce differences in family values, since the frequency of communication between immigrant parents and children is lower than that of local parents (Dyson, 2001). Immigrant parents should consider the gradual transformation of the education strategies, from standardized education to a more democratic and personalized education model, in order to reduce the intergenerational cultural conflict. An example would be discussing children's hobbies and taking part in sporting events. Therefore, from the perspective of family, immigrant parents should identify as learners who are equal to immigrant children, because both sides need to learn how to survive in their new environment. In this way, while immigrant parents reduce their levels of authority and control, the commitment to communication will make their involvement more relaxed and positive.

REFERENCES

- Balli, S. J., Demo, D. H., & Wedman, J. F. (1998). Family involvement with children's homework: An intervention in the middle grades. *Family Relations*, 47(2), 149. doi:10.2307/585619
- Batalova, J. & Zong, J., (2017). Chinese immigrants in the United States. *Migration policy institute*. Retrieved from https://www.migrationpolicy.org/article/chinese-immigrants-united-states
- Bhattacharya, G. (2000). The school adjustment of South Asian immigrant children in the United States. *Adolescence*, *35*(137), 77.
- Bost, K. K., Brown, G. L., McBride, B. A., & Shin, N. (2011). Parental involvement, child temperament, and parents' work hours: Differential relations for mothers and fathers.

 Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology, 32(6), 313-322.

 doi:10.1016/j.appdev.2011.08.004
- Bowen, N. K., & Lee, J.-S. (2006). Parent involvement, cultural capital, and the achievement gap among elementary school children. *American Educational Research Journal*, 43(2), 193–218. doi:10.3102/00028312043002193
- Buki, L. P., Ma, T.-C., Strom, R. D., & Strom, S. K. (2003). Chinese immigrant mothers of adolescents: Self-perceptions of acculturation effects on parenting. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, *9*(2), 127–140. doi:10.1037/1099-9809.9.2.127

- Cai, T. J., & Wang, H. Y. (2015) Parental involvement, adolescents' self-determined learning and academic achievement in Urban China. *International Journal of Psychology*, 52(1) https://doi-org.ledproxy2.uwindsor.ca/10.1002/ijop.12188
- Chan, H.-W., & Tam, K.-P. (2016). Understanding the lack of parent–child value similarity. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 47(5), 651–669. doi:10.1177/0022022116635744
- Chao, R., & Tseng, V. (2002). Parenting of Asians. In M. H. Bornstein (Ed.), *Handbook of parenting: Social conditions & applied parenting (2nd ed., Vol. 4*, pp. 59–93). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Chen, M., & Fan, X. (2001). Parental involvement and students' academic achievement: A metaanalysis. *Educational Psychology Review*, 13(1), 1-22.
- Chen, Q., Kim, S. Y., Orozco-Lapray., Shen, Y., & Wang, Y. (2013). Longitudinal linkages among parent—child acculturation discrepancy, parenting, parent—child sense of alienation, and adolescent adjustment in Chinese immigrant families. *Developmental Psychology*, 49(5), 900–912.

doi:10.1037/a0029169

- Chen, S. H., & Zhou, Q. (2018). Cultural values, social status, and Chinese American immigrant parents' emotional expressivity. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 50(3), 381–395. doi:10.1177/0022022118817653
- Cheung, C. S.-S., & Pomerantz, E. M. (2011). Parents' involvement in children's learning in the United States and China: Implications for children's academic and emotional adjustment. *Child Development*, 82(3), 932–950. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8624.2011.01582.x

- Cheung, C. S.-S., & Pomerantz, E. M. (2012). Why does parent's involvement enhance children's achievement? The role of parent-oriented motivation. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 104(3), 820–832. doi:10.1037/a0027183
- Cheung, P. C., Elphick, E., Kohnstamm, G., Slotboom, A., & Zhang, Y. (2002). Chinese and Dutch parents' perceptions of their children's personality. *The Journal of Genetic Psychology*, 163(2), 165-178.
- China Immigration Statistics (2019). Retrieved from https://www.macrotrends.net/countries/CHN/china/immigration-statistics
- Choi, Y., He, M., & Harachi, T. W. (2007). intergenerational cultural dissonance, parent—child conflict and bonding, and youth problem behaviors among Vietnamese and Cambodian immigrant families. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, *37*(1), 85–96. doi:10.1007/s10964-007-9217-z
- Chuang, S. S., & Su, Y. (2008). Says who? Decision-making and conflicts among Chinese-Canadian and mainland Chinese parents of young children. *Sex Roles*, 60(7-8), 527–536. doi:10.1007/s11199-008-9537-9
- Citizenship Canada. (2019). Annual report to parliament on immigration. Retrieved from https://www.canada.ca/en/immigration-refugees-citizenship/corporate/publications-manuals/annual-report-parliament-immigration-2018/report.html
- Coleman, J. S. (1988). Social capital in the creation of human capital. *American Journal of Sociology*, 94. doi:10.1086/228943

- Constantino, R., Cui, L., & Faltis, C. (1995). Chinese parental involvement: Reaching new levels. *Equity & Excellence in Education*, 28(2), 46–50.
- Costigan, C. L., & Dokis, D. P. (2006). Similarities and differences in acculturation among mothers, fathers, and children in immigrant Chinese families. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, *37*(6), 723–741. doi:10.1177/0022022106292080
- Costigan, C. L., Koryzma, C. M., (2011) Acculturation and adjustment among immigrant

 Chinese parents: Mediating role of parenting efficacy. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*,

 58, 183–196. doi:10.1037/a0021696
- Costigan, C. L., Macdonald, S. W. S., & Miao, S. W. (2018). Spillover of stress to Chinese

 Canadian immigrants' parenting: Impact of acculturation and parent–child stressors. *Asian American Journal of Psychology*, 9(3), 190–199.

 doi:10.1037/aap0000105
- Walker, J. M. T., Dallaire, J. R., Sandle, R. H. M., Wikins, A. S., & Hoover-Dempsey, H. (2005)

 Parental involvement: Model revision through scale development. *The Elementary School Journal*, 106(2), 85-104. doi:10.1086/499193
- De Lardemelle, C., Onaga, M., & Suárez-Orozco, C. (2010). Promoting academic engagement among immigrant adolescents through school-family-community collaboration.

 *Professional School Counseling, 14(1), 15-26.
- Do, K. A., Frese, K., Wang, C., & Zheng, L. (2018). Asian immigrant parents' perception of barriers preventing adolescents from seeking school-based mental health services. *School Mental Health*, *11*(2), 364–377. doi:10.1007/s12310-018-9285-0

- Dreby, J., & Foner, N. (2011). Relations between the generations in immigrant families. *Annual Review of Sociology*, *37(1)*, 545–564. doi:10.1146/annurev-soc-081309-150030
- Dyson, L. L. (2001). Home-School communication and expectations of recent Chinese immigrants. *Canadian Journal of Éducation*, *26*(4), 455. doi:10.2307/1602177
- Epstein, J. L. (2018). School, family, and community partnerships in teachers' professional work. *Journal of Education for Teaching*, 44(3), 397–406. doi:10.1080/02607476.2018.1465669
- Fenta, H., Hamilton, H. A., Marshall, L., Rummens, J. A., & Simich, L. (2011). Immigrant parents' perceptions of school environment and children mental health and behavior.

 **Journal of School Health, 81(6), 313–319. doi:10.1111/j.1746-1561.2011. 00596.x*
- Fuligni, A. J. (2012). Gaps, conflicts, and arguments between adolescents and their parents. *New Directions for Child and Adolescent Development*, 2012(135), 105–110.doi:10.1002/cd.20006
- Fung, J. J., & Lau, A. S. (2010). Factors associated with parent–child (Dis)agreement on child behavior and parenting problems in Chinese immigrant families. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, *39*(3), 314–327. doi:10.1080/15374411003691693
- Giguère, B., Lalonde, R., & Lou, E. (2010). Living at the crossroads of cultural worlds: The experience of normative conflicts by second generation immigrant youth. *Social and Personality Psychology Compass*, 4(1), 14–29. doi:10.1111/j.1751-9004.2009. 00228. x
- Government of Ontario. (n.d.). Parent engagement policy. Retrieved from http://www.edu.gov.on.ca/eng/parents/policy.html.

- Gonzalez, G. C. & Karoly, L. A. (2011). Early care and education for children in immigrant families. *The Future of Children*, 21(1), 71–101. doi:10.1353/foc.2011.0005
- Guo, K. (2006). Raising children in Chinese immigrant families: Evidence from the research literature. *Australian Journal of Early Childhood*, *31*(2), 7–13
- Guo, K. (2014). For a better life: The aspirations of Chinese immigrants in parenting. *Journal of Immigrant & Refugee Studies*, 12(3), 293–310. doi:10.1080/15562948.2013.843047
- Hands, C. (2013). Including all families in education: School district-level efforts to promote parent engagement in Ontario, Canada. *Teaching Education*, 24(2), 134–149. doi:10.1080/10476210.2013.786893
- Ho, G. W. K. (2014). Acculturation and its implications on parenting for Chinese immigrants. *Journal of Transcultural Nursing*, 25(2), 145–158. doi:10.1177/1043659613515720
- Hornby, G. (2011). Parental involvement in childhood education building effective school-family partnerships. *Springer Science & Business Media, Berlin, Heidelberg*. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-8379-4
- Hua, J. M., Costigan, C., & Su, T. F. (2009). Ethnic identity among Chinese Canadian youth: A review of the Canadian literature. *Canadian Psychology*, *50*(4), 261-272.
- Hung, C. (2017). Tradition meets pluralism: The receding Confucian values in the Taiwanese citizenship curriculum. *Asia Pacific Journal of Education*, 35(2), 176-190. doi:10.1080/02188791.2014.934782

- Janzen, R., & Ochocka, J. (2008). Immigrant parenting: A new framework of understanding. *Journal of Immigrant & Refugee Studies*, 6, 85–112.doi:10.1080/15362940802119286
- Josefowitz, N., & Wolfgang, A. (1978). Chinese immigrant value changes and value differences compared to Canadian students. *Canadian Ethnic Studies = Etudes Ethniques Au Canada*, 10(2), 118.
- Kao, G., & Turney, K. (2009). Barriers to school involvement: Are immigrant parents disadvantaged? *The Journal of Educational Research*, 102(4), 257–271. doi:10.3200/joer.102.4.257-271
- Kim, S. Y., Huang, X., Shen, Y., Wang, Y., & Orozco-Lapray, D. (2014). Chinese American parents' acculturation and enculturation, bicultural management difficulty, depressive symptoms, and parenting. *Asian American Journal of Psychology*, *5*(4), 298-306. doi:10.1037/a0035929
- Lee, B. K., & Chen, L. (2000). Cultural communication competence and psychological adjustment: A study of Chinese immigrant children's cross-cultural adaptation in Canada. *Communication Research*, 27(6), 764–792. doi:10.1177/009365000027006004
- Lee, P. A., Tsai, J. L., & Ying, Y.-W. (2007). Attachment, sense of coherence, and mental health among Chinese American college students: Variation by migration status. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, *31*(5), 531–544. doi:10.1016/j.ijintrel.2007.01.00
- Liu, N. H. (2015) Communication, conflict and mental health: Chinese immigrant parents and their children. Electronic Theses and Dissertations. 5488.

 https://scholar.uwindsor.ca/etd/5488

- Ministry of Education. (2010). Parents in partnership: A parent engagement policy for Ontario schools. Retrieved from http://www.edu.gov.on.ca/eng/parents/involvement/PE_Policy2010.pdf
- Nam, B.-H., & Park, D.-B. (2014). Parent involvement: Perceptions of recent immigrant parents in a suburban school district, Minnesota. *Educational Studies*, 40(3), 310–329. doi:10.1080/03055698.2014.898576
- Pam, M. (1996). Obstacles to immigrant parent participation in schools, *IDRA Newsletter by the Intercultural Development Research Association*. Retrieved from

 https://www.idra.org/resource-center/obstacles-to-immigrant-parent-participation-in-schools/
- Rumbaut, R. G. (1994). The crucible within: Ethnic identity, self-esteem, and segmented assimilation among children of immigrants. *International Migration Review*, 28(4), 748. doi:10.2307/2547157
- Rumbaut, R. G. (2005). Sites of belonging: Acculturation, discrimination, and ethnic identity among children of immigrants. In T. S. Weiner (Ed.), *Discovering successful pathways in children's development: Mixed methods in the study of childhood and family life* (pp. 111-164). Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Slaughter-Defoe, D. T. & Zhang, D. (2009). Language attitudes and heritage language maintenance among Chinese immigrant families in the USA. *Language, Culture and Curriculum*, 22(2), 77–93. doi:10.1080/07908310902935940

- Sohn, S., & Wang, X. C. (2006). Immigrant parents' involvement in American schools:

 Perspectives from Korean mothers. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, *34*(2), 125–132.

 doi:10.1007/s10643-006-0070-6
- Telzer, E. H. (2010). Expanding the acculturation gap-distress model: An integrative review of research. *Human Development*, *53*, 313–340. doi: 10.1159/000322476
- Yau, J. (2016). Adolescent nondisclosure in cultural context. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, 31(5), 606–630. doi:10.1177/0743558415604218
- Zhou, G., & Zhong, L. (2011). Chinese immigrant parents' involvement in their children's school education: High interest but low action. *Brock Education Journal*, 20(2). doi:10.26522/brocked.v20i2.167

VITA AUCTORIS

NAME: Jing Tao

PLACE OF BIRTH: Windsor, ON

YEAR OF BIRTH: 1995

EDUCATION: Chong Qing Normal University Foreign Trade and

Business College, B.A, Chong Qing, China, 2017

University of Windsor, M.Ed., Windsor, ON, 2019